

# Population dynamics of the spruce bark beetle *lps typographus* in forest conservation areas and the interaction with biodiversity and natural enemies

**Evelina Andersson** 

Degree project • 30 hec Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, SLU Faculty of Forest Sciences • Department of Ecology Master's degree in Biology Uppsala 2023

# Population dynamics of the spruce bark beetle *lps typographus* in forest conservation areas and the interaction with biodiversity and natural enemies

Populationsdynamik hos granbarkborren lps typographus i skogliga naturvårdsområden och samspelet med biologisk mångfald och naturliga fiender

#### **Evelina Andersson**

Supervisor:	Simon Kärvemo, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Ecology
Examiner:	Erik Öckinger, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Ecology

Credits:	30 hec
Level:	Advanced level, A2E
Course title:	Master's thesis in Biology, A2E - Ecology
Course code:	EX0953
Education:	Master's degree in Biology
Course coordinating dept:	Department of Ecology
Place of publication:	Uppsala
Year of publication:	2023
Copyright:	All featured images are used with permission from the copyright owner.

Keywords:

spruce bark beetle, population dynamics, conservation areas, biodiversity, natural enemies, species richness, managed forests, woodland key-habitats, nature reserves

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Faculty of Forest Sciences Department of Ecology

Unit of Forest Entomology

#### Abstract

Biodiversity is rapidly decreasing and in need of more conservation efforts. However, the treekilling European spruce bark beetle, Ips typographus (L.), has made forest conservation controversial by affecting conservation areas and possibly adjoining managed forests, yet is still a keystone species leaving decaying wood promoting biodiversity. To improve our understanding of the influence of conservation areas, this study investigated the difference in population dynamics of the spruce bark beetle, abundance of natural enemies and species richness of arthropods, including their association to one another and differences in the environment, compared between managed forests, woodland key-habitats and nature reserves during an outbreak in southern Sweden. Bark samples were collected from standing trees in the different managements, and in each bark sample all arthropod species and information of the spruce bark beetle's population dynamics were recorded. Additionally, environmental data of local and regional landscape was obtained though remote sensing. The results showed that the conservation areas included in this study had e.g., higher spruce volumes and drier ground compared to managed forests and consequently had an environment theoretically more prone to attacks. Despite this, in particular nature reserves, did not have higher attack density, offspring production or reproductive success of spruce bark beetles, compared to managed forests. Under similar population pressure, even lower rates than managed forests. Furthermore, nature reserves possessed higher species richness per m<sup>2</sup> bark compared to managed forests, and generally higher abundance of natural enemies per m<sup>2</sup> bark compared to the other two managements. This suggests that nature reserves are able to allow natural ecological processes and maintain vital ecosystem functioning among spruce bark beetles and their natural enemies, resulting in high biodiversity and a natural control with possibly relatively high spruce bark beetle mortality. However, the influence of woodland key-habitats is more unclear and remains to be addressed.

*Keywords:* spruce bark beetle, population dynamics, conservation areas, biodiversity, natural enemies, species richness, managed forests, woodland key-habitats, nature reserves

# Table of contents

List o	f tables	6
List o	of figures	7
1.	Introduction	8
1.1	Today's biodiversity conservation	8
1.2	The European spruce bark beetle	8
1.3	Study purpose and hypotheses	. 10
2.	Methods	.11
2.1	Life cycle of the spruce bark beetle	. 11
2.2	Study area	.11
	2.2.1 Conservation areas	. 12
2.3	Sampling method	. 13
2.4	Geospatial data	. 14
	2.4.1 Tree volume data	. 14
	2.4.2 Soil moisture data	. 14
	2.4.3 Infestation data	. 15
	2.4.4 Conservation area data	. 15
2.5	Statistical analyses	. 16
3.	Results	. 19
3.1	Environment	. 19
3.2	Species richness	.21
3.3	Natural enemies	.22
3.4	Population dynamics	.25
4.	Discussion	.28
4.1	Environment	.28
4.2	Species richness	.29
4.3	Natural enemies	. 30
4.4	Population dynamics	. 30
4.5	Conclusions	. 33
4.6	Limitations and future research	. 33
Refer	ences	.35
Popu	lärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	.43

Acknowledgements	44
Appendix 1	45
Appendix 2	
Appendix 3	47

## List of tables

Table 1. Units, means ± SD, and ranges of species richness, natural enemies, and	
population dynamics, in respective management. The units with m <sup>2</sup> refers to	m²
bark	.20

- Table 4. Outputs of tests with the different models, and multiple comparisons of population dynamics between managements. M = managed forests, WKH = woodland key-habitats, NR = nature reserves. The p-values are adjusted for multiple tests. For units, means ± SD, and ranges of variables see Table 1...26

## List of figures

Figure 1. Map of study area, zoomed-out (left) and zoomed-in (right). Displays all forest
locations in triplets sampled between 2020-2022. Management type described
as symbols, circle = managed forest, square = woodland key-habitat, and
triangle = nature reserve12

- Figure 2. Boxplot of the species richness of arthropods per m<sup>2</sup> bark in each management. X-axis shows managements as; M = managed forests, WKH = woodland keyhabitats, NR = nature reserves. Bar: median; box: interquartile range (IQR); whiskers: min/max. values < 1.5 × IQR below/above box; dots: outliers. .......21</p>

## 1. Introduction

The world's biodiversity is rapidly decreasing and is facing an ongoing mass extinction (Kolbert 2014; WWF 2022). To hold back the loss of important species, habitats and ecosystem functioning, conservation efforts are required to a wider extent (Raven & Wagner 2021; WWF 2022). However, during outbreaks of the tree-killing European spruce bark beetle, *Ips typographus* L. (Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae), entire conservation areas can get damaged and thereby fail in its purpose of protecting nature (Schroeder & Weslien 2020). Consequently, conservation areas have often been accused of acting as sources of spruce bark beetles and increase infestations in the surroundings, and by that made forest conservation into a controversial question (Valeria et al. 2016; Wermelinger 2004).

## 1.1 Today's biodiversity conservation

In 2022, the UN Biodiversity Conference (COP-15) came to an agreement on increased national and international funding for biological diversity (Regeringskansliet 2022). They stated, by the year of 2030 the world's total area, of both land and sea, shall be 30% protected, and that 30% of all damaged ecosystems must be restored (Regeringskansliet 2022). Sweden has signed the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD), and is obligated to this agreement (Naturvårdsverket 2023a). Moreover, two of Sweden's own environmental objectives include living prosperous forests, and a rich plant and animal life (Sveriges miljömål 2023b; Sveriges miljömål 2023a). At the moment, approximately 15% of Sweden's total area is conserved, about 9% of the total forest land is conserved, and near 6% of the productive forest land is conserved in Sweden (Naturvårdsverket 2021).

## 1.2 The European spruce bark beetle

Sweden consists of 68% forest land and consequently and made timber production an important renewable natural resource in the country (Sandström et al. 2011; SCB 2023). Additionally, Sweden's large amount of forest land provides great opportunities to establish forest conservation areas. However, in a changing climate and even-aged spruce forests, tree-killing pests have increased sometimes resulting in large-scale outbreaks causing forest loss making both commercial forests and conservation areas suffer (Schroeder & Weslien 2020; Wu & Nilsson 2023; Öhrn 2012). The host-tree species of the European spruce bark beetle is the Norway spruce, *Picea abies*, and the beetle usually attacks trees under the circumstances of forest disturbances, such as storms or droughts which cause stress and a reduction in the spruce trees' natural defence. However, healthy spruce trees can also get infested during epidemic circumstances, when enough beetles simultaneously invade a tree successfully and thereby exceeding the attack threshold which overcome the trees' natural defence (Mulock & Christiansen 1986). Furthermore, higher attack densities of the spruce bark beetle have shown to reduce their reproductive success, caused by limited breeding space and food resources, socalled intraspecific competition (Anderbrant et al. 1985; Komonen et al. 2011; Zhang et al. 1992).

To inhibit infestations of the spruce bark beetle, commercial forests are managed and have active pest-control, like thinning, trap trees, insecticides, and debarking (Grodzki et al. 2006; Mergl et al. 2021), and logging being a common method in Sweden (Lindelöw & Schroeder 2008). Conservation areas, on the other hand, have no active pest-control, and are usually left untouched (Naturvårdsverket 2023c). Because of this, conservation areas have in some cases shown to be more prone to infestations in occurrence of disturbance, due to wind-felled, weakened or stressed trees, which commonly are not removed because of protection laws (Komonen et al. 2011; Schlyter & Lundgren 1993; Schroeder & Lindelöw 2002). Hence, commercial forests adjacent to conservation areas, may suffer from a higher risk of infestations compared to forests further away (Becker 1999; Zolubas & Dagilius 2012). However, conservation areas do not contribute to large-scale outbreaks of the spruce bark beetle in general (Schroeder & Weslien 2020), the spatial distribution of infestations regardless management type are suggested to strongly increase the risk of new infestations locally and in nearby surrounding forests the following year (commonly within 500 m during outbreaks; Kautz et al. 2011; Wichmann & Ravn 2001). Likewise, forest structure such as tree species composition, tree age and spruce tree density, can have a direct impact on the infestation probability (Overbeck & Schmidt 2012; Kärvemo et al. 2014; Kärvemo et al. 2016).

The European spruce bark beetle is not only a forest pest, but is also known to be an ecosystem engineer, a keystone species for establish important habitats for other species by creating succession disturbances and initiating wood decomposition (Müller et al. 2008). After a bark beetle attack, the killed spruce trees remain in conservation areas and form so-called "skeleton forests" (Müller et al. 2008). Skeleton forests leave a favourable environment with decaying wood, promoting biodiversity (Jonsell et al. 1998; Siitonen 2001; Stokland et al. 2012). On the other hand, vital old spruce stands may be valuable for other species (Berg et al. 1994; Framstad 2013; Kärvemo et al. 2021). This makes skeleton forests ambiguous, by both being advantageous and disadvantageous in different scenarios. Fortunately, the spruce bark beetle has many known species of natural enemies, both predators and parasitoids, which can lower the spruce bark beetles productivity and can act as a natural pest-control (Lawson et al. 1996; Wegensteiner et al. 2015; Weslien 1992). The enemies are attracted by bark beetle pheromones and host-tree volatiles (Schroeder & Lindelöw 1989; Schroeder & Weslien 1994), and therefore tend to migrate to areas with high prey density (Weslien & Schroeder 1999). Several enemy species have been found to have a higher presence in unmanaged forests compared to managed forests (Weslien & Schroeder 1999). The reason for this is believed to be forest management being more harmful to the natural enemies, than the actual targeted spruce bark beetle (Weslien & Schroeder 1999; Weslien et al. 2022). However, the difference in enemy abundance between management types does not remain constant, as other studies have found no clear differentiation between managed and unmanaged forests, and in some cases even higher presence in managed forests of some enemy species (Hilszczański et al. 2007; Schlyter & Lundgren 1993).

## 1.3 Study purpose and hypotheses

The aim of this study was to improve our understanding about the influence of conservation areas regarding the spruce bark beetle's population dynamics, natural enemies, and biodiversity, during an outbreak in southern Sweden. I did this by investigating how managed forests, and two types of conservation areas, woodland key-habitats and nature reserves, differed in (i) spruce bark beetle attack density, offspring production, and reproductive success, along with (ii) abundance of natural enemies, and (iii) species richness of arthropods within the bark. In addition, I analysed their association to one another and to differences in the landscape and forest environment.

I hypothesized that a larger amount of killed trees will remain in conservation areas (mainly nature reserves) compared to the managed forests, because of no tree removal in conservation areas. Additionally, I expected a higher attack density in conservation areas and thus a higher offspring production, hence lower reproductive success in conservation areas, due to intraspecific competition. I also hypothesized higher species richness and higher abundance of natural enemies in conservation areas, based on conservation areas possibly having more favourable environment with dead wood and no harmful active pest-control.

## 2. Methods

## 2.1 Life cycle of the spruce bark beetle

In Sweden, spruce bark beetles (mainly adults) hibernate in the ground or under the bark during the winter and usually starts its swarming period in April/May (Hedgren & Schroeder 2004; Öhrn et al. 2014), when temperatures rise above approximately 17 °C (Wermelinger 2004). Males start flying to search for a suitable host-tree with a diameter of at least 10 cm at breast height (Hedgren & Schroeder 2004), but preferable larger mature spruces (Holsten et al. 1989). The male bores an entrance hole through the bark and excavates a nuptial chamber, and thereafter excretes a pheromone to attract conspecifics (Hedgren & Schroeder 2004). Commonly, two or three females will enter, and mate with the male, but even up to five females can be achieved by the male (Hedgren & Schroeder 2004; Schlyter & Zhang 1996). After mating, each female excavates a maternal gallery vertically in the phloem and lays up to 80 eggs (Schlyter & Zhang 1996). After the eggs hatch, the larvae feed of the surrounding phloem, then turn into a pupa, and eventually develop into an adult and emerge from the tree, usually in July (Öhrn et al. 2014). The spruce bark beetle normally has only one generation per year in Sweden (Hedgren & Schroeder 2004), however, many of the parental beetles re-emerge and repeat the process (and produce sister broods) in another tree nearby (Öhrn et al. 2014). In addition, during extreme warm summers the spruce bark beetle can develop two generations during one year, such as 2006 and 2018.

#### 2.2 Study area

The study was conducted in southern Sweden within the region of Götaland. The sampling was done during the autumn (October - November) each year from 2020 to 2022 (Figure 1). Each site had three forest locations grouped together in a triplet, where each triplet contained one managed forest, one woodland key-habitat, and one nature reserve (Figure 1). This was in order to have replicates of all three management types, within the same area and somewhat the same environmental conditions. The mean distance between the three forest locations within a triplet,

was approximately 7 km. In total, 13 triplets were sampled, 4 triplets in 2020, 5 triplets in 2021, and 4 triplets in 2022 (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Map of study area, zoomed-out (left) and zoomed-in (right). Displays all forest locations in triplets sampled between 2020-2022. Management type described as symbols, circle = managed forest, square = woodland key-habitat, and triangle = nature reserve.

#### 2.2.1 Conservation areas

Nature reserves and woodland key-habitat are examples of conservation areas with a different degree of protection. Nature reserves are established to preserve valuable nature, protect species, and contribute to knowledge and human outdoor recreation (Naturvårdsverket 2023b). In Sweden, nature reserves are commonly owned by the state, or in some cases privately owned, and are usually large-scale conservation areas (Naturvårdsverket 2023c). Nature reserves are strictly protected by law and are operated by the county board in Sweden (Naturvårdsverket 2023c). Woodland key-habitats are usually small-scale conservation areas (around 3-5 ha) with hotspots of biodiversity (Timonen et al. 2011), and are in many cases a rare habitat often containing species of conservation interest (Timonen et al. 2011; Kärvemo et al. 2021). In Sweden, woodland key-habitats do not necessarily have legal protection (if not within a protected area), instead they are voluntary protected by land owners often incentivized by forest certification (Timonen et al. 2010). Hence, it is not illegal for the land owner to harvest or manage a woodland key-habitat

(Naturskyddsföreningen 2023). However, consultation with The Swedish Forestry Agency must be done beforehand (Skogsstyrelsen 2023).

In this study the nature reserves named, 2020; Huluskogen, Kattehålet, Skams hål, Taberg, 2021; Grimmestorp, Jättadalen-Öglunda, Ruderskogen, Råbyskogen, Stortorp, 2022; Karsmossen, Stora Fjället, Sydbillingen, Vristulven, were sampled. The nature reserves were initially visited, selected and sampled in the field, considering nature reserves being a less common conservation area. Thereafter, nearby woodland key-habitats and managed forests was visited, selected and sampled. The sampled conservation areas were required to contain at least 1 ha with over 200 m<sup>3</sup> spruce, because of the increasing probability of finding infested spruce trees to sample. Furthermore, this may in turn have caused bias, by increasing the probability of more local infested forest in the sampled conservation areas.

### 2.3 Sampling method

In total, 190 bark samples were collected from standing trees within 13 managed forests, 13 woodland key-habitats, and 13 nature reserves (Figure 1). Separately, in 2020 there were totally 54 samples collected from 4 forests of each management type (managed forest, woodland key-habitat, and nature reserve), in 2021 there were totally 78 samples collected from 5 forests of each management type, and in 2022 there were totally 58 samples collected from 4 forests of each management type (Figure 1). In each forest location, ideally 5 bark samples were collected of standing bark beetle infested spruce trees, and all bark samples per site were collected within approximately 100 m radius. The bark samples were cut out (ca. 15 x 45 cm) from the tree stem about 3 m above ground, and the tree diameter was noted and measured at breast-height.

The bark samples were transported to Uppsala, Sweden and refrigerated at the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, awaiting analysis. In the laboratory, each bark sample was measured (length and width) and all of the spruce bark beetles' egg galleries and hatch holes were recorded. Thereafter, each bark sample was torn apart into small pieces and carefully strained by hand. When straining, all spruce bark beetles (imago, pupae, and larvae) and all other arthropods were collected and counted. All species were sorted, noted, and stored in glass jars.

The bark samples from 2020 collected by Simon Kärvemo and the samples from 2021 were sampled by Simon and Pontus Eriksson, and all samples from 2020-2021 were reviewed by Pontus alone. The bark samples from 2022 were collected by me (Evelina Andersson), Hanna Jonsell and Simon, and later reviewed by me alone.

## 2.4 Geospatial data

To get a better understanding how large-scale factors (hereafter landscape factors) affect the spruce bark beetles population dynamics, its natural enemies and the species richness, several landscape variables were included in this study through remote sensing. On a local scale of 100 m radius, the variables spruce volume, birch volume, soil moisture, and amount infested forest were included, and on a regional scale of 1000 m radius, the total amount of area conserved was included.

#### 2.4.1 Tree volume data

Forests with a higher volume of Norway spruce tend to increase the connectivity and colonization probability, and decrease the extinction probability of the spruce bark beetles' infestation patches (Kärvemo et al. 2014; Kärvemo et al. 2016). However, the non-host deciduous tree birch (*Betula spp.*) has been found to decrease the colonization probability (Byers et al. 1998; Kärvemo et al. 2014; Kärvemo et al. 2016; Schiebe et al. 2011; Zhang & Schlyter 2004). Birch leaves emit a chemical odour which reduces the attraction of bark beetles (Byers et al. 1998; Schiebe et al. 2011; Zhang & Schlyter 2004), possibly by avoiding wasting time searching for a host-tree (Byers et al. 1998). Hence, spruce volume and birch volume were included in this study.

Data of spruce volume and birch volume were accessed from the SLU Forest Map (2015). The data is created through co-processing from satellite images (Sentinel-2), and field data recording by the Swedish National Forest Inventory (Reese et al. 2003). The data consisted of two raster layers (one with spruce and one with birch) with a resolution of 12.5 x 12.5 m, but aggregated to 100 x 100 m by averaging. Each raster pixel showed the m<sup>3</sup>/ha of spruce respectively birch, and the variables spruce volume and birch volume were calculated as the sum of pixels within 100 m radius, separately. Only the frequency of pixels with spruce volume >200 m<sup>3</sup>/ha and birch volume >25 m<sup>3</sup>/ha were included. This is according to a previous study by Kärvemo et al. 2014, which showed an increase in risk of spruce bark beetle infestation up to approximately 200 m<sup>3</sup>/ha spruce, and then the risk levelled out (Kärvemo et al. 2014). Kärvemo et al. (2014) also found a peak in infestation risk when birch volume was about 25 m<sup>3</sup>/ha, and thereafter the risk instead started to decrease (Kärvemo et al. 2014).

#### 2.4.2 Soil moisture data

The soil moisture data was accessed from the SLU Soil moisture map (Ågren et al. 2021), and consisted of one raster layer with a resolution of 2 x 2 m. The soil moisture data is based on a LIDAR-derived terrain index (Ågren et al. 2021), showing predictions of soil moisture from dry to wet with a continuous index from 0 up to 100. Low index indicates dry soil, and with gradually increasing index it

indicates mesic soil, mesic-moist soil, moist soil and wet soil, as it increases up to 100. In this study the soil moisture is the calculated mean of all pixel values within the 100 m radius. Only pixel values of <98 were included, considering values over 97 have a high probability to indicate bodies of water.

## 2.4.3 Infestation data

Data of locally bark-beetle killed tree stands (only trees killed from previous years), expressed as local infested forest, were included as a landscape variable. Data was assessed from high-resolution Sentinel-2 satellite images of bark beetle infestations with a new vegetation index: Distance Red SWIR (DRS). The DRS index has been shown to identify forest attacked by spruce bark beetle with at least 77% total accuracy (Persson et al. in prep). The data consisted of raster layers with a resolution of 10 x 10 m. The local infested forest is defined by the area (ha) of killed trees within 100 m radius. Our collected bark samples have the satellite data of the infested forest from the year before and earlier. i.e., the sampled bark from 2020 have satellite data from 2019 and earlier years, sampled bark from 2022 have satellite data from 2021 and earlier years.

## 2.4.4 Conservation area data

The total area conserved within the landscapes was included as a variable to control for nearby conserved forest and the quantity of conserved area, for respective management. The data of conserved areas includes nature reserves, accessed through The Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (2023), and woodland keyhabitats, accessed through The Swedish National Forest Inventory (2023), consisting of shape layers containing polygons of all Sweden's conserved areas. The total area conserved is the area sum of both nature reserves and woodland keyhabitats within 1000 m radius, including the area of the possibly sampled conservation area.

#### Remote sensing method

To obtain data for each forest location, the computer program QGIS was used for remote sensing (QGIS Development Team 2023). The GPS-coordinates from each forest location were transmitted into QGIS and used as starting points. Thenceforward, to obtain the data for the local variables, a buffer zone was created with the tool "Fixed distance buffer", with a 100 m radius from each GPS-point. The tool "clip raster by mask layer" was later used to only retain the pixels within the buffer. To extract the value from each pixel, the tool "Raster pixels to points" was first used and then the tool "Show statistical summary" to get the number of points (pixels) or mean value of all the points (pixels) within the buffer. For the

regional landscape variable, total area conserved, instead got a buffer zone with a 1000 m radius from each GPS-point. The tool "clip vector layer by mask layer" was used on the nature reserve polygons, respectively woodland key-habitat polygons. This created new layers containing the nature reserves and woodland key-habitats remaining within 1000 m. Thereafter a new column was made in the attribute table with the sum of the area ha of nature reserves respectively woodland key-habitats. Lastly, the nature reserve area and woodland key-habitat area were summed up together to get the total area conserved within 1000 m of each forest location.

This remote sensing method was done for all forest locations 2020-2022, and all performed by me (Evelina Andersson) alone.

#### 2.5 Statistical analyses

After excluding dry bark samples with almost no arthropod content, believed to be from a previous attack year and sampled by mistake, a total of 160 bark samples were used in the statistical analysing. Because the data from several trees was sampled within different sites, the statistical analysis requires taking this in consideration and using the site as a random factor. All tests done in the statistical analysis were additionally tested with multiple comparisons tests, to compare between the three management types.

To test the difference in the environmental response variables tree diameter, spruce volume, birch volume, soil moisture, infested forest, and area conserved between managements, the first following model was constructed. Model 1: [Response variable  $\sim$  Management + (1|site)]. For the non-count response variable tree diameter (which model residuals was normally distributed by logarithm) a Linear Mixed-Effects Models (LMM) test was used with Model 1, to test the difference between managements. For the non-count response variable soil moisture (which model residuals was not normal distributed) a Kruskal-Wallis test was used with Model 1, to tests the difference between managements. However, because of the appropriate test for soil moisture, the site could not be included as a random factor when testing soil moisture, so (1|site) was excluded from the model in this case. To test the difference in each one of the response variables spruce volume, birch volume, infested forest, and area conserved between managements, Model 1 was used for each response variable separately and tested separately with a Negative Binomial Generalized Linear Mixed-Effects Model (GLMM), as the models were overdispersed and thus had a better fit with a negative binomial distribution.

The bark samples were not equal in size, consequently the bark data was put in proportion by including an offset with bark size in the following model to compare per m<sup>2</sup>. Model 2: [Response variable ~ Management + (1|site) + offset(log(size))].

To test the difference in the response variable species richness between managements, Model 2 was used and tested with a GLMM with family Poisson, since the data was not overdispersed.

The groups of natural enemies included in this study were: *Medetera*, parasitoids, *Plegaderus*, Staphylinidae, Cecidomyiidae, Sciaridae, *Thanasimus*, *Lonchaea*, Stratiomyidae, *Rhizophagus*, and Raphidiidae. The total number of natural enemies included the total counts of all the previous mentioned enemy groups. To test the difference in the response variables *Medetera*, parasitoids, *Plegaderus*, Staphylinidae, Cecidomyiidae, and Sciaridae between managements, Model 2 was used for each response variable separately and tested separately with a Negative Binomial GLMM, due to overdispersion. However, the less important *Thanasimus*, *Lonchaea*, Stratiomyidae, *Rhizophagus*, and Raphidiidae were excluded when the groups of natural enemies were tested separately, due to lack of data or overfitted data, and thus not converging when tested. Further, to test the difference in the total number of natural enemies (groups pooled together) between managements, Model 2 was used and also tested with a Negative Binomial GLMM

In this study three response variables were used to describe the population dynamics of the spruce bark beetle: attack density, offspring production and reproductive success. The attack density of spruce bark beetles equals the number of egg galleries per m<sup>2</sup> bark, and the offspring production is the sum of produced offspring beetles: [number of juvenile beetles + hatch holes] per  $m^2$  bark. Reproductive success is the calculated number of daughters per mother beetle: [number of produced beetles x 0.5] / [number of egg galleries] (Hedgren & Schroeder 2004). The pupae and larvae were not included as they contributed to a minor part (17%) of produced offspring, and have a very low probability of surviving hibernation (Annila 1969). To test the difference in attack density and offspring production between managements, Model 2 was separately used for the response variables and separately tested with a Negative Binomial GLMM, as the data were overdispersed. However, because reproductive success was defined as the number of daughters per mother beetle and not compared per  $m^2$  bark, Model 2 with the size offset could not be used. Further, to test the difference in reproductive success between managements, Model 1 was used and tested with a Generalized Linear Mixed-Effects Model with family Poisson, as the data was not overdispersed.

Previously during this statistical analysis, it showed a difference in the amount of local infested forest between managements. Because of this I also wanted to control for population pressure when analysing the population dynamics, this by constructing the following models. Model 3: [Response variable ~ Management + (1|site) + offset(log(size)) + offset(log(local infested forest + 1))] for the response variables attack density, and offspring production. Additionally, Model 4: [Response variable ~ Management + (1|site) + offset(log(local infested forest + 1))] for the response variable reproductive success, without the size offset. Each one of the response variables were tested separately, with the same tests as previously.

All analyses were conducted in R version 4.2.3 (R Core Team, 2023), using the packages blmeco for checking data dispersion (Korner-Nievergelt et al. 2015), lme4 for GLMM and LMM tests (Bates et al. 2015), multcomp (for multiple comparisons of LMM and GLMM tests) and dunn.test (for Kruskal-Wallis test) for multiple comparisons and adjusted p-values (Hothorn et al. 2008; Dinno 2017), and ggplot2 for constructing plots (Wickham 2016).

## 3. Results

## 3.1 Environment

Statistics of the following results can be found in Appendix 1, Appendix 2, and associated graph in Appendix 3. The tree diameter of the sampled spruce trees was generally larger in conservation areas compared to managed forests, and more similar between nature reserves and woodland key-habitats. Managed forest trees had a mean diameter of 29.6 cm, woodland key-habitats a mean of 35.4 cm, and nature reserves a mean of 33.5 cm in tree diameter. Additionally, nature reserves had 112% more spruce, and woodland key-habitats 83% more spruce, compared to managed forests. However, there was no difference in spruce volume between nature reserves and woodland key-habitats. Nature reserves had generally 40% less birch, and woodland key-habitats 65% less birch, compared to managed forests. In addition, nature reserves had 74% more birch than woodland key-habitats. Regarding soil moisture, woodland key-habitats were 58% drier, and nature reserves 36% drier, compared to the managed forests soil moisture. But there was no difference in soil moisture between conservation areas. Furthermore, nature reserves turned out to have generally 15% more, and woodland key-habitats 85% more area of infested forest locally, compared to managed forests. Yet, no difference in area of local infested forest between woodland key-habitats and nature reserves was found. Further, all three management types differed from each other in the total area conserved in the surrounding landscape. Nature reserves had most, a mean of 88.2 ha conserved, woodland key-habitats less with a mean of 9.2 ha conserved, and managed forests the least, with a mean of 3.8 ha conserved in the surrounding landscape.

1 u v v c 1. Unus, means + DD, unu	ranges of species richness, naura	currences, and popul	interior agricultures, i	in i opposition mana	Schone income		n vurn.
		Managed	l forests	Woodland <b>k</b>	ey-habitats	Nature r	eserves
Variable	Unit	$Mean\pm SD$	Range	$Mean \pm SD$	Range	$Mean \pm SD$	Range
<b>Species richness</b>							
Arthropod species	number/m <sup>2</sup>	$152\pm48$	51.6 - 374	$153\pm52.5$	74.1 - 344	$169\pm57.2$	74.1 - 324
Natural enemies							
Medetera	number/m <sup>2</sup>	$354\pm336$	0 - 1879	$437\pm295$	0 - 1413	$491\pm402$	11.5 - 1676
Parasitoids	number/m <sup>2</sup>	$61.4 \pm 101$	0 - 560	$51.8\pm91.5$	0 - 580	$108\pm259$	0 - 1471
Thanasimus	number/m <sup>2</sup>	$3.2 \pm 9$	0 - 46.8	$2.1 \pm 5.7$	0 - 28.7	$2.1 \pm 7.2$	0 - 42.9
Plegaderus	number/m <sup>2</sup>	$21.8\pm33.8$	0 - 174	$36.8\pm69.5$	0 - 340	$55.3 \pm 77.8$	0 - 364
Lonchaea	number/m <sup>2</sup>	$16.8\pm34.2$	0 - 171	$11.3 \pm 31.6$	0 - 186	$6.7 \pm 14$	0 - 60.9
Staphylinidae	number/m <sup>2</sup>	$42.1 \pm 48$	0 - 210	$66.4 \pm 77.3$	0 - 421	$73.4 \pm 93.7$	0 - 449
Stratiomyidae	number/m <sup>2</sup>	$59.7 \pm 97.8$	0 - 614	$61.4 \pm 121$	0 - 634	$122 \pm 351$	0 - 2122
Cecidomyiidae	number/m <sup>2</sup>	$51.5 \pm 102$	0 - 569	$126\pm297$	0 - 1646	$173 \pm 259$	0 - 1398
Sciaridae	number/m <sup>2</sup>	$603\pm1657$	0 - 9057	$282\pm758$	0 - 4740	$512 \pm 1238$	0 - 5986
Rhizophagus	number/m <sup>2</sup>	$5.8\pm13.9$	0 - 62.4	$11.4\pm33.2$	0 - 190	$7 \pm 27.6$	0 - 178
Raphidiidae	number/m <sup>2</sup>	$0.2\pm1.6$	0 - 12.3	$1.3 \pm 4.1$	0 - 14.3	$0.6 \pm 2.9$	0 - 14.8
Total enemies	number/m <sup>2</sup>	$1220\pm1803$	56.1 - 9591	$1088\pm945$	119 - 5474	$1551\pm1501$	104 - 8306
<b>Population dynamics</b>							
Attack density	no. egg galleries/m <sup>2</sup>	$291 \pm 187$	14.2 - 874	$304\pm106$	64.5 - 570	$320\pm189$	11.5 - 887
Offspring production	no. offspring beetles/m <sup>2</sup>	$451\pm345$	58.3 - 1989	$702 \pm 745$	0 - 2667	$563 \pm 423$	11.5 - 1578
Reproductive success	no. daughters/mother beetle	$1\pm0.8$	0.1 - 3.5	$1.2 \pm 1.2$	0 - 5.5	$1.1 \pm 1$	0.1 - 4.3

Table 1. Units means  $\pm$  SD and ranges of species richness natural enemies, and population dynamics, in respective management. The units with  $m^2$  refers to  $m^2$  bark.

## 3.2 Species richness

There was a higher species richness per  $m^2$  bark in nature reserves, compared to managed forests (Table 1, Table 2, Figure 2). However, there was no difference in the number of species per  $m^2$  between nature reserves and woodland key-habitats, or between woodland key-habitats and managed forests (Table 1, Table 2, Figure 2).

Table 2. Outputs of test with Model 2 and multiple comparisons of species richness between managements per  $m^2$  bark. M = managed forests, WKH = woodland key-habitats, NR = nature reserves. The p-values are adjusted for multiple tests. For units, means  $\pm$  SD, and ranges of variable see Table 1.

Variable	Estimate	SE	p-value
Species richness			
WKH - M	0.03646	0.05877	0.535
NR - M	0.12788	0.05748	0.026
NR - WKH	0.09141	0.06042	0.130



Figure 2. Boxplot of the species richness of arthropods per  $m^2$  bark in each management. X-axis shows managements as; M = managed forests, WKH = woodland key-habitats, NR = nature reserves. Bar: median; box: interquartile range (IQR); whiskers: min/max. values < 1.5 × IQR below/above box; dots: outliers.

#### 3.3 Natural enemies

When looking at the number of natural enemies per m<sup>2</sup> bark, separated by group, there was a higher density of *Medetera*, *Plegaderus*, Staphylinidae, and Cecidomyiidae in nature reserves compared to managed forests (Table 1, Table 3, Figure 3). But parasitoids, and Sciaridae occurred to be in a similar density between nature reserves and managed forests (Table 1, Table 3, Figure 3). A higher density of Staphylinidae, and Cecidomyiidae was found, and an indication of more *Medetera*, in woodland key-habitats, compared to managed forests. However, a comparable density of *Plegaderus*, parasitoids, and Sciaridae between woodland key-habitats and managed forests (Table 1, Table 3, Figure 3). Between woodland key-habitats and nature reserves, there was a higher density of parasitoids, Sciaridae, and an indication of more *Plegaderus*, in nature reserves. Yet a similar density of *Medetera*, Staphylinidae, and Cecidomyiidae between woodland key-habitats and nature reserves per m<sup>2</sup> (Table 1, Table 3, Figure 3).

The total number of enemies (enemy groups pooled together) per m<sup>2</sup> bark, was higher in nature reserves in comparison to both woodland key-habitats and managed forests (Table 1, Table 3, Figure 3). Although the woodland key-habitats and managed forests had a comparable abundance of total enemies (Table 1, Table 3, Figure 3).

Variable	Estimate	SE	p-value
Medetera			
WKH - M	0.26539	0.15275	0.082
NR - M	0.35867	0.15439	0.020
NR - WKH	0.09328	0.16284	0.567
Parasitoids			
WKH - M	-0.1846	0.312	0.554
NR - M	0.5282	0.3396	0.120
NR - WKH	0.7128	0.3409	0.037
Plegaderus			
WKH - M	0.4458	0.3082	0.148
NR - M	1.0790	0.3146	<0.001
NR - WKH	0.6332	0.3317	0.056
Staphylinidae			
WKH - M	0.51365	0.19368	0.008
NR - M	0.5945	0.1975	0.003
NR - WKH	0.08085	0.20167	0.689
Cecidomyiidae			
WKH - M	0.8942	0.3506	0.011
NR - M	1.1773	0.3439	<0.001
NR - WKH	0.2831	0.3626	0.435
Sciaridae			
WKH - M	-0.5283	0.4488	0.239
NR - M	0.4785	0.4734	0.312
NR - WKH	1.0068	0.4303	0.019
Total enemies			
WKH - M	0.02668	0.16431	0.871
NR - M	0.42537	0.16918	0.012
NR - WKH	0.39869	0.16793	0.018

Table 3. Outputs of tests using Model 2 and multiple comparisons in natural enemies between managements, per  $m^2$  bark. M = managed forests, WKH = woodland key-habitats, NR = nature reserves. The p-values are adjusted for multiple tests. For units, means  $\pm$  SD, and ranges of variables see Table 1.



Figure 3. Boxplots of the number of natural enemies per  $m^2$  bark in each management, M = managed forests, WKH = woodland key-habitats, NR = nature reserves. The boxplots show the number of (a) Medetera, (b) parasitoids, (c) Plegaderus, (d) Staphylinidae, (e) Cecidomyiidae, (f) Sciaridae, and (g) total enemies. Bar: median; box: interquartile range (IQR); whiskers: min/max. values <  $1.5 \times IQR$  below/above box; dots: outliers. In boxplot b, c, d, e, f, and g, all values are +1, to be able to perform logarithm for better visual display.

## 3.4 Population dynamics

Without considering the differences in amount of local infested forest between managements (Appendix 2), there was no difference found in either attack density or reproductive success of the spruce bark beetle, between the managements (Table 1, Table 4, Figure 4). In contrast, the offspring production of the spruce bark beetle was found to be higher in woodland key-habitats, compared to managed forests, but not in the other cases (Table 1, Table 4, Figure 4). However, when the differentiation in local infested forest was taken into consideration and controlling for the amount of killed spruce trees locally (population pressure), it showed a lower reproductive success, and indication of lower attack density, in nature reserves compared to managed forests (Table 4). But, similar offspring production between managed forests and nature reserves (Table 4). There was a lower attack density, lower offspring production, and lower reproductive success of the spruce bark beetle in woodland key-habitats compared to managed forests (Table 4), while there was a higher reproductive success in nature reserves compared to woodland keyhabitats (Table 4). Contrary, no difference in either attack density or offspring production between conservation areas (Table 4).

Variable	Estimate	SE	p-value
Attack density			
Model 2			
WKH - M	0.13129	0.0937	0.161
NR - M	0.11514	0.0941	0.221
NR - WKH	-0.01616	0.0988	0.870
Model 3			
WKH - M	-0.5498	0.1753	0.002
NR - M	-0.3626	0.1962	0.065
NR - WKH	0.1872	0.203	0.356
Offspring production			
Model 2			
WKH - M	0.3251	0.1607	0.043
NR - M	0.1421	0.1589	0.371
NR - WKH	-0.1829	0.1634	0.263
Model 3			
WKH - M	-0.4467	0.197	0.023
NR - M	-0.1611	0.2255	0.475
NR - WKH	0.2856	0.2305	0.215
Reproductive success			
Model 1			
WKH - M	0.07486	0.18270	0.682
NR - M	0.03127	0.18555	0.866
NR - WKH	-0.04359	0.18944	0.818
Model 4			
WKH - M	-1.0786	0.2063	<0.001
NR - M	-0.5894	0.2100	0.005
NR - WKH	0.4892	0.2177	0.025

Table 4. Outputs of tests with the different models, and multiple comparisons of population dynamics between managements. M = managed forests, WKH = woodland key-habitats, NR = nature reserves. The p-values are adjusted for multiple tests. For units, means  $\pm$  SD, and ranges of variables see Table 1.



Figure 4. Boxplot of (A) attack density, (B) offspring production, and (C) reproductive success within the bark, in the different managements, M = managed forests, WKH = woodland key-habitats, NR = nature reserves. Bar: median; box: interquartile range (IQR); whiskers: min/max. values <  $1.5 \times IQR$  below/above box; dots: outliers. In boxplot B, and C, all values are +1, to be able to perform logarithm for better visual display.

## 4. Discussion

#### 4.1 Environment

In summary, conservation areas had generally more and larger spruce trees, less birch content, drier soil, and more infested forest locally, along with more area conserved in their surrounding landscape, compared to managed forests. However, nature reserves had more birch content locally, and more area conserved in the surrounding landscape than woodland key-habitats.

Historically, the forest industry is known to plant spruce monoculture and practice forest ditching and drainage to increase the land's suitability for timber production (Felton et al. 2010a; Laine et al. 1995). Managed forests, i.e., commercial forests, are therefore expected to have more spruce, and a lower soil moisture (Felton et al. 2010a; Laine et al. 1995). Surprisingly, the results from the managed forest sites in this study showed the opposite of this (Appendix 1, Appendix 2, Appendix 3). However, the fact that conservation areas generally had more spruce compared to managed forests, may have been caused by actively selecting nature reserves and woodland key-habitats with a high spruce content (see Conservation areas 2.2.1). The higher spruce volume can further explain why the conservation areas generally had less birch content than managed forests. The conservation areas in this study having a generally larger amount of local infested forest could partly be explained by our method of selecting conservation areas with a high probability of infestation (see Conservation areas 2.2.1), which may have increased the amount. However, the drier soil in the conservation areas might also explain why the local infested forest were generally more pronounced in conservation areas, considering drought causing stress in standing trees and reduce bark beetle performance and thus more vulnerable for attacks (Marini et al. 2017; Netherer et al. 2021). Additionally, drought tends to trigger the spruce bark beetles' symbiotic ophiostomatoid fungi to produce beetle semiochemicals and detoxify tree defence compounds (Netherer et al. 2021). Also, given that conservation areas generally had larger spruce trees may have increased the infestations, considering that spruce bark beetles prefer mature spruce trees (Holsten et al. 1989; Overbeck & Schmidt 2012; Müller et al. 2022). Moreover, conserved spruce dominated forests having larger areas with killed trees, agrees with the hypothesis, considering

no management allowed versus a smaller amount of killed trees in managed forests, where thinning and logging are common practice to inhibit infestation (Lindelöw & Schroeder 2008). Nature reserves having the largest area conserved in the landscape, and woodland key-habitats the second most, are consistent with the average sizes of respective management in Sweden (woodland key-habitat = small-scale conservation, and nature reserve = large-scale conservation). Managed forests having the least conserved area in the surrounding landscape is accurate regarding the sampled managed forests were not by themselves within a conservation area and the majority of their regional landscape probably consist of silviculture.

## 4.2 Species richness

The results showed a higher species richness in nature reserves compared to managed forests, which agrees with my hypothesis. Also, this were in agreement with the hypothesis of having a higher species richness in areas with a higher amount of dead wood, which nature reserves had compared to managed forests (Djupström et al. 2008). Additionally, nature reserves having generally more and larger spruce trees (i.e., older mature spruce trees), may also have contributed to higher species richness (Berg et al. 1994; Framstad 2013; Kärvemo et al. 2021). However, despite woodland key-habitats also having more dead wood than managed forests they did not have more species in comparison, which do not agree with my hypothesis. Woodland key-habitats not having more species could possibly partly depend on containing less birch than the nature reserves, considering sprucebirch mixtures generates higher biodiversity (Felton et al. 2010b; Felton et al. 2016). These differences indicate a positive relationship between killed trees and species richness with larger population sizes of individual species (lower risk for local extinction) that increases with the amount of new (and old) dead wood (Siitonen 2001), and between species richness and habitat diversity (mixed forest = more different niches) (Felton et al. 2010b; Jonsell et al. 1998). Hence, the size of the conservation area, including more dead woods, might be the strongest predictor regards species richness, considering nature reserves having significantly larger areas conserved in the landscape than woodland key-habitats. Also, if several patches of larger conserved forest are available in the regional landscape, they could function as stepping stones for the species living in the nature reserve, escaping forestry (Fischer et al. 2006). Moreover, woodland key-habitats seems to have limited effect on conserving biodiversity, possibly by being small conserved patches, getting affected by surrounding silviculture giving edge-effects, isolation, poorer genetic viability and resulting in insubstantial species populations (Hanski 2005; Soulé & Terborgh 1999; Timonen et al. 2011).

## 4.3 Natural enemies

The abundance of natural enemies follows the general patterns of species richness to a high extent, and is consistent with the hypothesis of conservation areas having more natural enemies. Nature reserves had not only generally more natural enemies compared to managed forests, but also generally more compared to woodland keyhabitats. More specific, nature reserves had higher densities of Medetera, Plegaderus, Staphylinidae, Cecidomyiidae, and total number of enemies, compared to managed forests. Nature reserves also had higher densities of parasitoids, Sciaridae, and total number of enemies, compared to woodland key-habitats. Additionally, woodland key-habitats had significantly higher densities of Staphylinidae, Cecidomyiidae, and an indication of more Medetera, compared to managed forests. More natural enemies in nature reserves could be related to the higher amount of stressed and killed trees in nature reserves, by sending out bark beetle pheromones and host-tree volatiles attracting enemies (Schroeder & Lindelöw 1989; Schroeder & Weslien 1994). Moreover, nature reserves being left untouched and having no active pest-control may create a favourable environment for the natural enemies, which likely are sensitive to certain types of forestry (Weslien & Schroeder 1999; Weslien et al. 2022). Furthermore, both conservation areas having more natural enemies than managed forests in some enemy groups, might have been caused by conservation areas having more remaining dead wood which may create sustainable enemy populations (Siitonen 2001). The reason nature reserves also generally had more natural enemies than woodland keyhabitats, can similarly as the species richness, depend on woodland key-habitat being a small-scale conservation area and having less conserved area in the surrounding landscape, creating isolation and edge-effects from surrounding silviculture possibly resulting in insubstantial enemy populations (Hanski 2005; Soulé & Terborgh 1999; Timonen et al. 2011).

## 4.4 Population dynamics

Without controlling for the population pressure (amount of killed trees locally), the spruce bark beetles' attack density, offspring production, and reproductive success did not differ between nature reserves and managed forests, which are not consistent with my hypotheses. However, the results are supported by some previous studies, where managed forests and unmanaged forests have been found to not necessarily differentiate in bark beetle abundance (Hilszczański et al. 2007; Schlyter & Lundgren 1993; Weslien & Schroeder 1999). However, the results are interesting considering conservation areas had more spruce, less birch, drier soil and more local infested forest compared to managed forests, which typically results in higher attack densities (Kärvemo et al. 2014; Kärvemo et al. 2016; Müller et al.

2022; Wichmann & Ravn 2001). For all three management types, the attack density was around 300 egg galleries/m<sup>2</sup> bark, which are considered to be the upper limit in endemic populations (Furuta 1989). Moreover, the reproductive success was around 1 daughter per mother beetle in all three managements types, which is considered generally low (Weslien & Regnander 1990). Low attack density often results in high reproductive success because of less intraspecific competition, but that seems not to be the case in this study. The offspring production of the spruce bark beetle was higher in woodland key-habitats, compared to managed forests. This might be the outcome of woodland key-habitats having larger trees than managed forests (more breeding space) (Weslien & Regnander 1990), and lower species richness and densities of total natural enemies than nature reserves (low spruce bark beetle mortality and low competition), which gives a suitable breeding environment for the spruce bark beetles, resulting in a thriving production in woodland key-habitats.

When controlling for the population pressure (amount of killed trees locally), i.e., if the different managements would have had the same amount of infested forest, the results changed and managed forests had higher attack density, offspring production, and reproductive success of spruce bark beetles, compared to woodland key-habitats. Managed forests also had a marginally higher attack density, and significantly higher reproductive success compared to nature reserves. In conservation areas, because of more suitable host-trees (drought stress and more and larger spruce trees), the bark beetles can select host-tree more freely and the beetles can spread out over a larger number of trees, which dilutes the attack density. In managed forests there are fewer suitable host-trees, thus the spruce bark beetles have less alternatives, which gives a concentrated attack density depending on less breeding space and thereby successfully exceeding the attack threshold (Mulock & Christiansen 1986). Nature reserves having marginally lower attack density of spruce bark beetles than managed forests, could perhaps also be an effect of interspecific competition by nature reserves having a higher species richness resulting in less available space for egg galleries in the bark (Byers 1989). Further, managed forest having higher offspring production of spruce bark beetles than woodland key-habitats when controlling for population pressure are probably associated with the higher attack density in managed forests, i.e., more egg galleries yield more oviposition and *per se* results in more offspring per m<sup>2</sup> bark. Moreover, with similar population pressure, conservation areas had lower reproductive success of spruce bark beetles compared to managed forests. Nature reserves having generally more natural enemies and species should have contributed to this by interspecific competition and induced mortality of spruce bark beetles. Woodland key-habitats did however still have higher densities within some enemy groups than managed forests, e.g., marginally more *Medetera* which are one of the most important enemies of spruce bark beetles (Lawson et al. 1996; Wegensteiner et al.

2015), which could have resulted in higher beetle mortality and giving lower reproductive success. However, the effectiveness of natural enemies on bark beetle mortality are ambiguous and difficult to determine, considering this study did not directly test the enemy influence. However, the reason why the population dynamics functioned this way in the woodland key-habitats are unclear and are difficult to explain. Likewise, there are also difficult to explain why nature reserves had higher reproductive success than woodland key-habitats under similar population pressure. Yet, one possible explanation could be that nature reserves, unlike woodland key-habitats, are able to support sustainable species populations, i.e., even a sustainable spruce bark beetle population, because of more conserved area in the surrounding. Further, the results of the population dynamics give an indication of local infestation size being a strong predictor of the population dynamics, considering the significant change in results when controlling for population pressure. Additionally, even though nature reserves had more local infested forest originally, they did not have higher rates of spruce bark beetles, compared to managed forests. The similarities and later differences indicate that nature reserves (and woodland key-habitats under similar population pressure), do have natural control over their spruce bark beetle populations. In some means perhaps even more effective inhibition of the spruce bark beetle populations than managed forests, considering the differences in environment. This perhaps by having sustainable species and enemy populations, which managed forests are unable to have possibly because of the harming active pest-control. Further, previous studies have investigated what effect active pest-control versus nonintervention management have on spruce bark beetles inside conservation areas (Fora & Balog 2021; Vanická et al. 2020), and they found no distinct differentiation in the population dynamics of the spruce bark beetles between active pest-control and non-intervention management. This can further strengthen the suggestion of natural control being comparable in effectiveness to active pest-control regards the general population dynamics within a forest.

The indicating importance of leaving conservation areas unmanaged, still holds the question of possible connectivity and spread to the direct adjoined forests when not removing infested spruce trees (which was not within the scope of this study). Efficient prevention of spruce bark beetles spread to adjoining forests have been showed by creating phytosanitary protection zones around conservation areas (Angst et al. 2012; Ebregt & Greve 2000; Nikolov et al. 2014; Wermelinger 2004), with buffer zones of a few hundred meters in width (Angst et al. 2012; Nikolov et al. 2014; Wermelinger 2004). These buffer zones can e.g., be constructed to have absence of Norway spruce, and resulting in densities below high-risk thresholds of spreading beetles within a few hundred meters (Angst et al. 2012). In addition, this might be a possible implementation in future conservation efforts, to reduce the connectivity spread and make forest conservation less problematic. However, this may only be suitable in large-scale conservation areas considering the effective width size of the buffer zones.

## 4.5 Conclusions

In this study, nature reserves did not differ directly in rates of the spruce bark beetle compared to managed forests, but nature reserves did have some lower rates of spruce bark beetles under similar population pressure. Woodland key-habitats had directly higher offspring production compared to managed forests, but at the same time lower rates under similar population pressure. Moreover, nature reserves exclusively possessed the highest species richness and abundance of natural enemies in general. This likely by nature reserves having favourable habitats of decomposed wood initiated by spruce bark beetles, and nature reserves being a diverse unmanaged conservation area with the most area conserved in the surrounding landscape, creating sustainable species population with low risk of local extinction and give species the ability to escape harming active pest-control in the surrounding landscape. Accordingly, woodland key-habitats' smaller area conserved in the surroundings might be the main cause of insubstantial enemy and species populations, possibly contributing to the direct higher spruce bark beetle offspring production. This suggests that nature reserves are able to allow natural ecological processes and maintain vital ecosystem functioning among spruce bark beetles and their natural enemies, resulting in high biodiversity and a natural control with possibly relatively high spruce bark beetle mortality. However, the influence of woodland key-habitats is more unclear and remains to be addressed.

## 4.6 Limitations and future research

There were several more questions that could have been investigated and tested in this study, but in order to stay within the framework of this degree project, limitations were necessary. I would have wanted to involve enemies as predictors in the models for offspring production and reproductive success, to see how they affected the spruce bark beetles, and if specific enemy groups had more impact than others. Because the natural enemy's direct impact on spruce bark beetle mortality is still relatively unknown for some of the enemy groups. Furthermore, it would have been interesting to analyse the change over time, if there was a difference between the years 2020-2022. Considering, e.g., previous year enemy abundance might have an impact on next year spruce bark beetle population dynamics. Also, including a larger landscape perspective, by adding several buffer zones (e.g., 300 m, 500 m, 700 m) with landscape data (tree volume, soil moisture, infested forest) and not only 100 m radius, to be able to look at the impact of large-scale landscape

composition. I would have liked to test and compare the managed forests with and without conserved areas within its region, to see if conserved areas nearby increase the attack density, if conservation areas nearby contribute to spread. In future studies it would have been interesting to look at the number of enemy species and perhaps also include the spruce bark beetle's symbiotic ophiostomatoid fungi as a factor. Likewise, investigate this topic between managements when having similar tree composition and soil moisture.

## References

- Ågren, A. M., Larson, J., Paul, S. S., Laudon, H. & Lidberg, W. (2021). Use of multiple LIDAR-derived digital terrain indices and machine learning for high-resolution national-scale soil moisture mapping of the Swedish forest landscape. *Geoderma*, 404, 115280. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2021.115280</u>
- Anderbrant, O., Schlyter, F. & Birgersson, G. (1985). Intraspecific Competition Affecting Parents and Offspring in the Bark Beetle *Ips typographus*. *Oikos*, 45(1), 89-98. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3565226</u>
- Angst, A., Rüegg, R. & Forster, B. (2012). Declining Bark Beetle Densities (*Ips typographus*, Coleoptera: Scolytinae) from Infested Norway Spruce Stands and Possible Implications for Management. *Psyche: A Journal of Entomology*, 2012, e321084. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/321084</u>
- Annila, E. (1969). Influence of temperature upon the development and voltinism of *Ips typographus* L. (Coleoptera, Scolytidae). *Annales Zoologici Fennici*, 6(2), 161-208.
- Bates, D., Maechler, M., Bolker, B. & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 67(1), 1-48. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=lme4</u>
- Becker, T. (1999). Zunehmender Borkenkäferbefall in zwei fichtenreichen Bannwäldern Baden-Württembergs. Mitteilungen der Biologischen Bundesanstalt für Landund Forstwirtschaft, *H. Berlin-Dahlem*, 362, 80-100.
- Berg, Å., Ehnström, B., Gustafsson, L., Hallingbäck, T., Jonsell, M. & Weslien, J. (1994). Threatened Plant, Animal, and Fungus Species in Swedish Forests: Distribution and Habitat Associations. *Conservation Biology*, 8(3), 718-731. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.1994.08030718.x
- Byers, J. A. (1989). Behavioral mechanisms involved in reducing competition in bark beetles. *Ecography*, 12(4), 466-476. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-</u> 0587.1989.tb00924.x
- Byers, J., Zhang, Q. H., Schlyter, F. & Birgersson, G. (1998). Volatiles from Nonhost Birch Trees Inhibit Pheromone Response in Spruce Bark Beetles. *Naturwissenschaften*, 85, 557-561. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s001140050551</u>
- Dinno, A. (2017). dunn.test: Dunn's Test of Multiple Comparisons Using Rank Sums. R package version 1.3.5, <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=dunn.test</u>
- Djupström, L. B., Weslien, J. & Schroeder, L. M. (2008). Dead wood and saproxylic beetles in set-aside and non set-aside forests in a boreal region. *Forest Ecology* and Management, 255(8), 3340–3350. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2008.02.015

- Ebregt, A. & Greve, P. D. (2000). Buffer zones and their management. *Policy and best* practices for terrestrial ecosystems in developing countries. Theme Studies Series, 5.
- Felton, A., Ellingson, L., Andersson, E., Drössler, L. & Blennow, K. (2010a). Adapting production forests in southern Sweden to climate change: Constraints and opportunities for risk spreading. *International Journal of Climate Change Strategies and Management*, 2(1), 84–97. https://doi.org/10.1108/17568691011020274
- Felton, A., Lindbladh, M., Brunet, J. & Fritz, Ö. (2010b). Replacing coniferous monocultures with mixed-species production stands: An assessment of the potential benefits for forest biodiversity in northern Europe. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 260(6), 939-947. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2010.06.011</u>
- Felton, A., Nilsson, U., Sonesson, J., Felton, A. M., Roberge, J.-M., Ranius, T.,
  Ahlström, M., Bergh, J., Björkman, C., Boberg, J., Drössler, L., Fahlvik, N.,
  Gong, P., Holmström, E., Keskitalo, E. C. H., Klapwijk, M. J., Laudon, H.,
  Lundmark, T., Niklasson, M., Nordin, A., Pettersson, M., Stenlid, J., Sténs, A. &
  Wallertz, K. (2016). Replacing monocultures with mixed-species stands:
  Ecosystem service implications of two production forest alternatives in Sweden.
  Ambio, 45(2), 124-139. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-015-0749-2</u>
- Fischer, J., Lindenmayer, D. B. & Manning, A. D. (2006). Biodiversity, ecosystem function, and resilience: Ten guiding principles for commodity production landscapes. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 4(2), 80–86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/1540-9295(2006)004[0080:BEFART]2.0.CO;2</u>
- Fora, C. G. & Balog, A. (2021). The Effects of the Management Strategies on Spruce Bark Beetles Populations (*Ips typographus* and *Pityogenes chalcographus*), in Apuseni Natural Park, Romania. *Forests*, 12(6), Article 6. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/f12060760</u>
- Framstad, E. (2013). *Biodiversity, Carbon Storage and Dynamics of Old Northern Forests.* Nordic Council of Ministers.
- Furuta, K. (1989). A comparison of endemic and epidemic populations of the spruce beetle (*Ips typographus japonicus* Niijima) in Hokkaido. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, 107(1-5), 289-295. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-</u> 0418.1989.tb00258.x
- Grodzki, W., Jakuš, R., Lajzová, E., Sitková, Z., Maczka, T. & Škvarenina, J. (2006). Effects of intensive versus no management strategies during an outbreak of the bark beetle *Ips typographus* (L.) (Col.: Curculionidae, Scolytinae) in the Tatra Mts. in Poland and Slovakia. *Annals of Forest Science*, 63(1), 55.
- Hanski, I. (2005). *The shrinking world: Ecological consequences of habitat loss*. International Ecology Institute, Oldendorf (Luhe).
- Hedgren, P. O. & Schroeder, L. M. (2004). Reproductive success of the spruce bark beetle *Ips typographus* (L.) and occurrence of associated species: A comparison between standing beetle-killed trees and cut trees. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 203(1), 241–250. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2004.07.055</u>

- Hilszczański, J., Gibb, H. & Bystrowski, C. (2007). Insect natural enemies of *Ips typographus* (L.) (Coleoptera, Scolytinae) in managed and unmanaged stands of mixed lowland forest in Poland. *Journal of Pest Science*, 80(2), 99-107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10340-006-0160-7</u>
- Holsten, E. H., Thier, R. W. & Schmid, J. M. (1989). *The Spruce Beetle*. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service.
- Hothorn, T., Bretz, F. & Westfall, P. (2008). Simultaneous Inference in General Parametric Models. *Biometrical Journal*, 50(3), 346-363. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=multcomp</u>
- Jonsell, M., Weslien, J. & Ehnström, B. (1998). Substrate requirements of red-listed saproxylic invertebrates in Sweden. *Biodiversity & Conservation*, 7(6), 749-764. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008888319031
- Kärvemo, S., Johansson, V., Schroeder, M. & Ranius, T. (2016). Local colonizationextinction dynamics of a tree-killing bark beetle during a large-scale outbreak. *Ecosphere*, 7(3), e01257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.1257</u>
- Kärvemo, S., Jönsson, M., Hekkala, A. M., Sjögren, J. & Strengbom, J. (2021). Multitaxon conservation in northern forest hot-spots: The role of forest characteristics and spatial scales. *Landscape Ecology*, 36(4), 989-1002. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-021-01205-x
- Kärvemo, S., Rogell, B. & Schroeder, M. (2014). Dynamics of spruce bark beetle infestation spots: Importance of local population size and landscape characteristics after a storm disturbance. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 334, 232-240. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2014.09.011</u>
- Kautz, M., Dworschak, K., Gruppe, A. & Schopf, R. (2011). Quantifying spatio-temporal dispersion of bark beetle infestations in epidemic and non-epidemic conditions. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 262(4), 598–608. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2011.04.023</u>
- Kolbert, E. (2014). The Sixth Extinction: An Unnatural History. A&C Black.
- Komonen, A., Schroeder, L. M. & Weslien, J. (2011). *Ips typographus* population development after a severe storm in a nature reserve in southern Sweden. *Journal* of Applied Entomology, 135(1-2), 132-141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0418.2010.01520.x</u>
- Korner-Nievergelt, F., Roth, T., von Felten, S., Guelat, J., Almasi, B. & Korner-Nievergelt, P. (2015). Bayesian Data Analysis in Ecology using Linear Models with R, BUGS and Stan. *Elsevier*. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=blmeco
- Laine, J., Vasander, H. & Sallantaus, T. (1995). Ecological effects of peatland drainage for forestry. *Environmental Reviews*, 3(3-4), 286-303. https://doi.org/10.1139/a95-015
- Lawson, S. A., Furuta, K. & Katagiri, K. (1996). The effect of host tree on the natural enemy complex of *Ips typographus japonicus* Niijima (Col., Scolytidae) in Hokkaido, Japan. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, 120(1-5), 77-86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0418.1996.tb01570.x</u>

- Lindelöw, Å. & Schroeder, M. (2008). The Storm "Gudrun" and the Spruce Bark Beetle in Sweden. FORSTSCHUTZ AKTUELL, 44. <u>https://bfw.ac.at/400/pdf/fsaktuell\_44\_2.pdf</u>
- Weslien, J., Öhrn, P. & Schroeder, M. (2022). Effekt på granbarkborren och dess fiender vid vinteravverkning av dödade granar. *Skogforsk*. <u>https://www.skogforsk.se/cd\_20220316105614/contentassets/16ac29a0cf0f4ad6a</u> 5508e1640bdaae1/arbetsrapport 1110-2022 .pdf
- Marini, L., Økland, B., Jönsson, A. M., Bentz, B., Carroll, A., Forster, B., Grégoire, J. C., Hurling, R., Nageleisen, L. M., Netherer, S., Ravn, H. P., Weed, A. & Schroeder, M. (2017). Climate drivers of bark beetle outbreak dynamics in Norway spruce forests. *Ecography*, 40(12), 1426-1435. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.02769</u>
- Mergl, V., Zemánek, T., Šušnjar, M. & Klepárník, J. (2021). Efficiency of Harvester with the Debarking Head at Logging in Spruce Stands Affected by Bark Beetle Outbreak. *Forests*, 12(10), Article 10. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/f12101348</u>
- Müller, J., Bußler, H., Goßner, M., Rettelbach, T. & Duelli, P. (2008). The European spruce bark beetle *Ips typographus* in a national park: From pest to keystone species. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 17(12), 2979-3001. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-008-9409-1
- Müller, M., Olsson, P. O., Eklundh, L., Jamali, S. & Ardö, J. (2022). Features predisposing forest to bark beetle outbreaks and their dynamics during drought. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 523, 120480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2022.120480
- Mulock, P. & Christiansen, E. (1986). The threshold of successful attack by *Ips typographus* on *Picea abies*: A field experiment. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 14(2), 125-132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-1127(86)90097-6</u>
- Naturskyddsföreningen (2023). Nyckelbiotoper vad är det och varför är de viktiga? <u>https://www.naturskyddsforeningen.se/artiklar/nyckelbiotoper-vad-ar-det-och-varfor-ar-de-viktiga/</u> [2023-05-07]
- Naturvårdsverket (2021). *Skyddad natur i siffror*. <u>https://www.naturvardsverket.se/amnesomraden/skyddad-natur/skyddad-natur-i-siffror/</u> [2023-05-04]
- Naturvårdsverket (2023a). Konventionen om biologisk mångfald (CBD). <u>https://www.naturvardsverket.se/om-miljoarbetet/internationellt-</u> <u>miljoarbete/internationella-miljokonventioner/konventionen-om-biologisk-</u> <u>mangfald-cbd/</u> [2023-05-05]

Naturvårdsverket (2023b). *Naturreservat*. <u>https://www.naturvardsverket.se/amnesomraden/skyddad-natur/olika-former-av-naturskydd/naturreservat/</u>[2023-05-18]

- Naturvårdsverket (2023c). *Skyddsformer för skog med höga naturvärden*. <u>https://www.naturvardsverket.se/amnesomraden/skyddad-natur/sa-bildas-</u> <u>skyddade-omraden/skyddsformer-for-skog-med-hoga-naturvarden/</u> [2023-05-07]
- Netherer, S., Kandasamy, D., Jirosová, A., Kalinová, B., Schebeck, M. & Schlyter, F. (2021). Interactions among Norway spruce, the bark beetle *Ips typographus* and

its fungal symbionts in times of drought. *Journal of Pest Science*, 94(3), 591-614. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10340-021-01341-y

- Nikolov, C., Konôpka, B., Kajba, M., Galko, J., Kunca, A. & Janský, L. (2014). Postdisaster Forest Management and Bark Beetle Outbreak in Tatra National Park, Slovakia. *Mountain Research and Development*, 34(4), 326-335. <u>https://doi.org/10.1659/MRD-JOURNAL-D-13-00017.1</u>
- Öhrn, P. (2012). The spruce bark beetle *Ips typographus* in a changing climate. *Introductory Research Essay (Department of Ecology, SLU)*, 18. <u>https://res.slu.se/id/publ/79004</u>
- Öhrn, P., Långström, B., Lindelöw, Å. & Björklund, N. (2014). Seasonal flight patterns of *Ips typographus* in southern Sweden and thermal sums required for emergence. *Agricultural and Forest Entomology*, 16(2), 147-157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/afe.12044</u>
- Overbeck, M. & Schmidt, M. (2012). Modelling infestation risk of Norway spruce by *Ips typographus* (L.) in the Lower Saxon Harz Mountains (Germany). *Forest Ecology and Management*, 266, 115-125. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2011.11.011</u>
- QGIS Development Team (2023). QGIS Geographic Information System. *QGIS* Association. <u>http://www.qgis.org</u>
- R Core Team (2023). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. *R* Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. <u>https://www.R-project.org/</u>
- Raven, P. H. & Wagner, D. L. (2021). Agricultural intensification and climate change are rapidly decreasing insect biodiversity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 118(2), e2002548117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2002548117</u>
- Reese, H., Nilsson, M., Pahlén, T. G., Hagner, O., Joyce, S., Tingelöf, U., Egberth, M. & Olsson, H. (2003). Countrywide Estimates of Forest Variables Using Satellite Data and Field Data from the National Forest Inventory. *AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment*, 32(8), 542-548. <u>https://doi.org/10.1579/0044-7447-32.8.542</u>
- Regeringskansliet (2022). *Nytt globalt ramverk för biologisk mångfald*. <u>https://www.regeringen.se/pressmeddelanden/2022/12/nytt-globalt-ramverk-for-biologisk-mangfald/</u> [2023-05-04]
- Sandström, C., Lindkvist, A., Öhman, K. & Nordström, E. M. (2011). Governing Competing Demands for Forest Resources in Sweden. *Forests*, 2(1), Article 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/f2010218</u>
- SCB (2023). *Marken i Sverige*. <u>https://www.scb.se/hitta-statistik/sverige-i-siffror/miljo/marken-i-sverige/</u> [2023-05-12]
- Schiebe, C., Blazenec, M., Jakuš, R., Unelius, C. & Schlyter, F. (2011). Semiochemical diversity diverts bark beetle attacks from Norway spruce edges. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, 135, 726-737. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0418.2011.01624.x</u>
- Schlyter, F. & Lundgren, U. (1993). Distribution of a bark beetle and its predator within and outside old growth forest reserves: No increase of hazard near reserves.

*Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, 8(1-4), 246-256. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827589309382774

- Schlyter, F. & Zhang, Q. H. (1996). Testing Avian Polygyny Hypotheses in Insects: Harem Size Distribution and Female Egg Gallery Spacing in Three *Ips* Bark Beetles. *Oikos*, 76(1), 57-69. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3545748</u>
- Schroeder, L. M. & Lindelöw, Å. (1989). Attraction of scolytids and associated beetles by different absolute amounts and proportions of α-pinene and ethanol. *Journal* of Chemical Ecology, 15(3), 807–817. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01015179</u>
- Schroeder, L. M. & Lindelöw, Å. (2002). Attacks on living spruce trees by the bark beetle *Ips typographus* (Col. Scolytidae) following a storm-felling: A comparison between stands with and without removal of wind-felled trees. *Agricultural and Forest Entomology*, 4(1), 47-56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1461-</u> 9563.2002.00122.x
- Schroeder, L. M. & Weslien, J. (1994). Reduced offspring production in bark beetleTomicus piniperda in pine bolts baited with ethanol and α-pinene, which attract antagonistic insects. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, 20(7), 1429-1444. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02059871</u>
- Schroeder, M. & Weslien, J. (2020). Skyddade områden och risk för angrepp av granbarkborre. *FAKTA SKOG Rön från Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet*, no.3. ISSN: 1400-7789
- Siitonen, J. (2001). Forest Management, Coarse Woody Debris and Saproxylic
  Organisms: Fennoscandian Boreal Forests as an Example. *Ecological Bulletins*, 49, 11-41. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/20113262</u>
- Skogsstyrelsen (2023). *Nyckelbiotoper*. <u>https://www.skogsstyrelsen.se/miljo-och-klimat/biologisk-mangfald/nyckelbiotoper/</u> [2023-05-05]
- Soulé, M. E. & Terborgh, J. (1999). Conserving nature at regional and continental scales - A scientific program for North America. *BioScience*, 49(10), 809-817. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1313572</u>
- Stokland, J. N., Sitonen, J. & Jonsson, B. G. (2012). Biodiversity in Deadwood. The Forestry Chronicle, 88(05), 660-660. <u>https://doi.org/10.5558/tfc2012-123</u>
- Sveriges miljömål (2023a). *Ett rikt växt- och djurliv*. <u>https://sverigesmiljomal.se/miljomalen/ett-rikt-vaxt--och-djurliv/</u> [2023-05-05]
- Sveriges miljömål (2023b). *Levande skogar*. <u>https://sverigesmiljomal.se/miljomalen/levande-skogar/</u> [2023-05-05]
- Timonen, J., Gustafsson, L., Kotiaho, J. S. & Mönkkönen, M. (2011). Hotspots in cold climate: Conservation value of woodland key habitats in boreal forests. *Biological Conservation*, 144(8), 2061-2067. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2011.02.016</u>
- Timonen, J., Siitonen, J., Gustafsson, L., Kotiaho, J. S., Stokland, J. N., Sverdrup-Thygeson, A. & Mönkkönen, M. (2010). Woodland key habitats in northern Europe: Concepts, inventory and protection. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, 25(4), 309-324. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2010.497160</u>
- Valeria, M., Coralie, B., Petr, D., Susanne, K., Jan, O., Christian, S. & Yoshan, M. (2016). How differential management strategies affect *Ips typographus* L.

dispersal. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 360, 195–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2015.10.037

- Vanická, H., Holuša, J., Resnerová, K., Ferenčík, J., Potterf, M., Véle, A. & Grodzki, W. (2020). Interventions have limited effects on the population dynamics of *Ips typographus* and its natural enemies in the Western Carpathians (Central Europe). *Forest Ecology and Management*, 470–471, 118209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2020.118209
- Wegensteiner, R., Wermelinger, B. & Herrmann, M. (2015). Chapter 7 Natural Enemies of Bark Beetles: Predators, Parasitoids, Pathogens, and Nematodes. In F. E. Vega & R. W. Hofstetter (Eds.), *Bark Beetles* (pp. 247-304). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-417156-5.00007-1</u>
- Wermelinger, B. (2004). Ecology and management of the spruce bark beetle *Ips typographus* - A review of recent research. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 202(1), 67-82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2004.07.018</u>
- Weslien, J. (1992). The arthropod complex associated with *Ips typograpfius* (L.) (Coleoptera, Scolytidae): Species composition, phenology, and impact on bark beetle productivity. *Entomologica Fennica*, 3(4), Article 4. https://doi.org/10.33338/ef.83730
- Weslien, J. & Regnander, J. (1990). Colonization densities and offspring production in the bark beetle *Ips typographus* (L.) in standing spruce trees. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, 109(1-5), 358-366. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-</u> 0418.1990.tb00064.x
- Weslien, J. & Schroeder, L. M. (1999). Population levels of bark beetles and associated insects in managed and unmanaged spruce stands. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 115(2), 267-275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(98)00405-8</u>
- Wichmann, L. & Ravn, H. P. (2001). The spread of *Ips typographus* (L.) (Coleoptera, Scolytidae) attacks following heavy windthrow in Denmark, analysed using GIS. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 148(1), 31-39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(00)00477-1</u>
- Wickham, H. (2016). ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis. Springer-Verlag New York. ISBN 978-3-319-24277-4, <u>https://ggplot2.tidyverse.org</u>
- Wu, H. & Nilsson, O. (2023). Threatened forests As the Northern forests suffer from the effects of climate change, genomics has great potential to help them adapt. *EMBO Reports*, 24(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.15252/embr.202357106</u>
- WWF (2022). *How can we fix the biodiversity emergency*. https://livingplanet.panda.org/solutions/ [2023-05-05]
- Zhang, Q. H., Byers, J. A. & Schlyter, F. (1992). Optimal Attack Density in the Larch Bark Beetle, *Ips cembrae* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 29(3), 672-678. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2404475</u>
- Zhang, Q. H. & Schlyter, F. (2004). Olfactory recognition and behavioural avoidance of angiosperm nonhost volatiles by conifer-inhabiting bark beetles. *Agricultural and Forest Entomology*, 6, 1-20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-9555.2004.00202.x</u>
- Zolubas, P. & Dagilius, R. (2012). Small scale conservation status in forests Source of bark beetle problems? *Acta Scientiarum Polonorum. Silvarum Colendarum Ratio*

*et Industria Lignaria*, 1(11). https://www.infona.pl//resource/bwmeta1.element.agro-101dc620-f7f8-43c9ba5c-27b403f7838a

## Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

För att nå Sveriges miljömål om levande skogar och ett rikt växt- och djurliv, måste mer omfattande bevarandeinsatser göras för att lyckas hejda förlusten av biologisk mångfald och viktiga livsmiljöer. Olyckligtvis har klimatförändringarnas bidragande till storskaliga utbrott av den träddödande granbarkborren gjort skogsbevarande kontroversiellt. Under utbrott kan ibland hela naturvårdsområden skadas, och därmed mista sitt syfte att skydda natur. Detta har dessutom gjort att naturvårdsområden ofta anklagats för att sprida granbarkborrar genom att eventuellt öka angrepp i omgivande produktionsskog. Emellertid är granbarkborren samtidigt känd för att främja biologisk mångfald genom att lämna gynnsamma miljöer med död ved. För att undvika utbrott av granbarkborre använder produktionsskog olika metoder av aktiv skadedjurskontroll, t.ex. gallring och avverkning. Dessa metoder har tvetydliga resultat och tros kunna påverka vissa andra arter mer negativt än själva granbarkborren. Naturvårdsområden, som bör lämnas orörda, måste istället förlita sig på granbarkborrarens naturliga fiender, vilka livnär sig på granbarkborren och därmed kan fungera som en typ av naturlig skadedjurskontroll. För att förbättra vår förståelse om skogliga naturvårdsområdens inverkan, jämförde denna studie hur granbarkborren, dess naturliga fiender och antal leddjursarter skiljer sig mellan naturreservat, nyckelbiotoper och produktionsskog under ett utbrott i södra Sverige. Resultaten visade att naturvårdsområdena i denna studie hade t.ex. torrare mark och mer gran än produktionsskog, vilket teoretiskt sett är en miljö mer benägen för angrepp. Men trots detta hade, i synnerhet naturreservat, inte högre nivåer av granbarkborren jämfört med produktionsskog. Dock påvisades en högre produktion av granbarkborrar i nyckelbiotoper än produktionsskog. Men under likande populationstryck hade naturvårdsområden till och med lägre nivåer av granbarkborren än produktionsskog. Naturreservat hade dessutom fler leddjursarter än produktionsskog, och även fler totalt antal naturliga fiender jämfört med både produktionsskog och nyckelbiotoper. Liknande eller lägre nivåer av granbarkborren tros bero på fler fiender och fler arter, och det i sin tur p.g.a. större bevarad orörd yta i landskapet och varierande miljö med död ved. Detta tyder på att naturreservat tillåter och upprätthåller naturliga och viktiga samspel mellan granbarkborren, dess naturliga fiender och andra arter, vilket resulterar i hög biologisk mångfald och möjligen en relativt effektiv naturlig skadedjurskontroll. Däremot är inverkan av nyckelbiotoper mer oklar och återstår att undersöka noggrannare.

## Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor Simon Kärvemo for all valuable guidance, support, and help throughout this project. I am likewise greatly thankful to Pontus Eriksson for previous field work and Simon for giving me the opportunity to use the previous bark sample data from 2020 and 2021. I have gained so much new knowledge in the subject and in statistical analysing, thanks to my supervisor. Moreover, I want to thank Simon Kärvemo, and Hanna Jonsell for accompanying me in the field and for helping me with the collecting of bark samples. I am likewise greatly thankful to Matilda Karlsson and Oliver Morén, for teaching and guidance in the laboratory during review of bark samples. Additionally, thanks to Mats Jonsell and Dragos Cocos for support with identification and distinguishing species. Lastly, I would like to thank the unit of Forest Entomology at SLU, for welcoming and including me in the unit throughout this period of my master's thesis. This work was funded by Skogssällskapet 2020-774, Formas – a Swedish Research Council for Sustainable Development 2021-01610 and the SLU Forest Damage Centre at the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU).

# Appendix 1

Units, means  $\pm$  SD, and ranges of all environmental variables used in this study, in respective management. Tree diameter refers to the sampled spruce trees. Local = within 100 m radius, and regional = within 1000 m radius.

		Managed	l forests	Woodland k	ey-habitats	Nature	reserves
Variable	Unit <sup></sup>	$Mean\pm SD$	Range	$Mean\pm SD$	Range	$Mean\pm SD$	Range
Environment							
Tree diameter	cm	$29.6 \pm 7.95$	13 - 55	$35.4\pm10.3$	22 - 60	$33.5\pm9.01$	20 - 55
Local spruce volume	m³/ha	$0.42\pm0.38$	0-1.25	$0.77\pm0.45$	0.09-1.57	$0.89\pm0.42$	0.16 - 1.36
Local birch volume	m³/ha	$0.55\pm0.29$	0.2 - 1.25	$0.19\pm0.24$	0.01 - 1.02	$0.33\pm0.24$	0.07 - 0.77
Local soil moisture	index	$27.7 \pm 14.3$	9.26 - 59.8	$11.5\pm10.9$	2.15 - 41.1	$17.6\pm14.6$	1.94 - 53.6
Local infested forest	ha	$0.13\pm0.20$	0 - 0.65	$0.24\pm0.27$	0-0.8	$0.15\pm0.14$	0 - 0.42
Regional area conserved	ha	$4.06\pm5.32$	0 - 16.3	$9.58\pm7.79$	1.12 - 25.6	$88.7\pm55.6$	29.6 - 204

## Appendix 2

Outputs of tests and multiple comparisons of spruce tree diameter, and landscape variables between managements. M = managed forests, WKH = woodland keyhabitats, NR = nature reserves. The p-values are adjusted for multiple tests. For units, means  $\pm$  SD, and ranges of variable see Appendix 1.

Variable	Estimate	SE	p-value
Tree diameter			
WKH - M	0.17218	0.04827	<0.001
NR - M	0.1299	0.04867	0.008
NR - WKH	-0.04228	0.05089	0.406
Local spruce volume			
WKH - M	0.90883	0.16666	<0.001
NR - M	0.98857	0.15689	<0.001
NR - WKH	0.07975	0.16809	0.635
Local birch volume			
WKH - M	-1.243	0.1321	<0.001
NR - M	-0.4907	0.1306	<0.001
NR - WKH	0.7523	0.1458	<0.001
Local infested forest			
WKH - M	1.15087	0.23889	<0.001
NR - M	1.18422	0.24913	<0.001
NR - WKH	0.03334	0.24788	0.893
Regional area conserved			
WKH - M	0.899	0.161	<0.001
NR - M	3.3672	0.1635	<0.001
NR - WKH	2.4682	0.1533	<0.001
Variable	z-value	-	p-value
Local soil moisture			
WKH - M	-5.88	-	<0.001
NR - M	-4.20	-	<0.001
NR - WKH	1.58	-	0.344

## Appendix 3

Boxplots of the spruce tree diameter, and the local (within 100 m radius) and regional (within 1000 m radius) landscape variables in each management, M = managed forests, WKH = woodland key-habitats, NR = nature reserves. The boxplots show (a) tree diameter, (b) local spruce volume, (c) local birch volume, (d) local soil moisture, (e) local infested forest, and (f) regional area conserved. Bar: median; box: interquartile range (IQR); whiskers: min/max. values <  $1.5 \times IQR$  below/above box; dots: outliers.



## Publishing and archiving

Approved students' theses at SLU are published electronically. As a student, you have the copyright to your own work and need to approve the electronic publishing. If you check the box for **YES**, the full text (pdf file) and metadata will be visible and searchable online. If you check the box for **NO**, only the metadata and the abstract will be visible and searchable online. Nevertheless, when the document is uploaded it will still be archived as a digital file. If you are more than one author, the checked box will be applied to all authors. You will find a link to SLU's publishing agreement here:

• <u>https://libanswers.slu.se/en/faq/228318</u>.

 $\boxtimes$  YES, I/we hereby give permission to publish the present thesis in accordance with the SLU agreement regarding the transfer of the right to publish a work.

 $\Box$  NO, I/we do not give permission to publish the present work. The work will still be archived and its metadata and abstract will be visible and searchable.